# FILED

## ON APPEAL TO THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SIDJ. WHITE

JAN 4 1996

ROBERT SAGER,	١	By
Appellant,	)	Crafed Doputy Clark
	)	CT. CR.' NO.
	)	92-102CFAWS
VS.	)	
vs.	, )	
	)	APPEAL NO.
	)	84,539
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
Appellee.	)	
	<i>'</i>	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES A. BOYKO, ESQ.
JAMES A. BOYKO, P.A
5390 School Road, Suite 1102
New Port Richey, FL 34652
Phone: (813) 841-6878
Florida Bar #0744867
Attorney for Mr. Sager

<u>

#### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a final judgment adjudicating Mr. Sager guilty by a trial court in a criminal case, and from the death sentence imposed as a result of the conviction, The Court's jurisdiction is invoked under Article V, Section 3(b) (1) of the Florida Constitution, and in accordance with Fla. R. App. P. 9.140(b) (4).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 4, 1992, a Sixth Judicial Circuit Grand Jury sitting in Pasco County, Florida, returned an indictment charging Mr. Sager and his co-defendant Donald Voorhees with the First Degree Murder of Audrey Stephen Bostic in violation of § 782.04(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (R. 18-19.) On February 11, 1992, Mr. Sager was assigned a Special Public Defender, who entered a plea of not guilty on February 21, 1992, (R. 21.) On the same day that the not guilty plea was entered, counsel filed a motion to reconsider the appointment because "..., in conversations with the Office of the Court Administrator, the undersigned has been advised that he, in spite of past experience in first degree murder cases, does not meet the strict and specific criteria for court appointment to represent individuals so charged." (R. 16-17.)

On May 27, Mr. Sager and his co-defendant filed a motion to suppress evidence obtained during the warrantless search of their room at the Chasco Inn in Pasco County. (R. 117-123.) The motion also sought the suppression of self-incriminating statements obtained while the co-defendants were incarcerated in Wayne County, Mississippi. The motion to suppress was based on Amendments IV, V, VI, VIII, IX and XIV to the United States Constitution, and Article I, Sections 2, 9, 12, 16, 17, 21 and 23 of the Florida Constitution. (R. 121.) Two hearings were held pursuant to the motion to suppress. A hearing at which testimony was taken was conducted on July 1, 1993. At a second hearing, held on July 19, 1993, the trial court heard argument by counsel, (R. 765-844).

Three days later, on July 22, 1993, Mr. Sager filed a "Supplement to Oral Argument of July 19, 1993." (R. 149-159.) The trial court entered an order denying the motion on July 23, 1993. (R. 160-169.)

Mr. Sager was tried by jury on May 9 through May 13, 1994 and found guilty as charged. (R. 655.) Penalty phase proceedings were conducted on May 12, 1994. (T. 730-888.) By a vote of eight to four, the jury recommended the death sentence, and on September 9, 1994, the trial court sentenced Mr. Sager to die in the electric chair. (R. 1249.) In its imposition of the death penalty, the trial court determined, by way of aggravating circumstances: "The capital felony of which the defendant was convicted was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of a robbery" and; "The capital felony of which the defendant was convicted was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel.\*\* (R. 733-734.)

As mitigating factors, the trial court ruled: (1) "(T)he defendant has established that he was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the offense," although the court declined to "accord much weight to this particular circumstance even though it has been found to exist"; (2) With respect to the mitigating circumstance of substantially impaired capacity of a defendant to appreciate the criminality of his conduct: and to conform his behavior to the requirements of law, the trial court ruled "that the defense has only marginally succeeded in this regard"; (3) The court assigned "very little weight to . . . the defendant's relative youth"; (4) The court rejected the argument that "the defendant's participation

was relatively minor"; (5) Finally, the court determined that, judged by the standard of "reasonable certainty, the mitigating circumstance of extreme duress or the substantial domination of another "has not been established." (R. 735-738.)

On May 27, 1993, following several continuances, defense counsel filed a motion to preclude the removal for cause of jurors who were not death qualified or alternatively for separate juries for the guilt and sentencing phases with only the sentencing jury death qualified. R. 77-82. Counsel also moved to preclude advising the jury that its recommendation as to the penalty in a capital case is only advisory, based on the holding in Tedder v. State, 322 So. 2d 908, 910 (Fla. 1982), that binds a trial court to a jury's recommendation of life imprisonment unless "the facts suggesting a sentence of death [are] so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ . . . " R. 94-99. The defense simultaneously moved for a pre-trial determination of the prosecution's good faith in pursuing the death penalty or a determination that death was not a possible sentence under § 921.141, Fla. Stat. (R. 100-116.)

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

NOTE: The combined record and trial transcription of this case comprise over 2,200 legal sized pages. In addition to and conjunction with the statement of facts as set out below, and in order to facilitate a concise presentation of the facts, the Court's attention is respectfully directed to the trial court's Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress (R. 160-169). The

order presents a clear chronological exposition of the facts of the case, and is generally acceptable, with three major exceptions: the erroneous statement that Pasco County Sheriff Detective Lawless had probable cause to arrest Mr. Sager prior to his contact with Wayne County, Mississippi authorities (R. 162); the erroneous statement that Mr. Sager accompanied Wayne County Deputy Sheriff Walker to the jail voluntarily (R. 162); and the statement that Mrs. Weiskopf, proprietor of the Chasco Inn in Pasco County, clearly communicated to Pasco County authorities that Room 4 was vacant and that the room was entered and searched in the officers' good faith reliance on the accuracy of that communication (R. 165).

# (1) <u>Incarceration in Wayne County</u>, Mississippi

On January 8, 1992, Deputy Bidmer Ray Walker of the Wayne County, Mississippi, Sheriff's Office, was dispatched along with another officer to investigate a report of two men seeking food from homes located within the boundaries of the Desota National Forest in rural Wayne County. (T.276-278.) Deputy Walker contacted the men and asked them to identify themselves. Although the men produced no paper identification, they gave the deputy what turned to be assumed names, William Stephen O'Donnell¹ and David Alan Scott, and fake social security numbers, (T. 281.) The men told the officers that they had come to Wayne County to camp out, but had wandered away from their vehicle and campsite. (T. 282.) Because the weather was wet and cold, and darkness would soon fall, Deputy

<sup>&#</sup>x27;In the trial transcript, the court reporter spells Voorhees' assumed name "Odonell."

Walker offered to transport the men to the county jail facility, where they could get a hot meal and a change of clothing. The men accepted the offer and Deputy Walker drove them to the Sheriff's Office. (T. 284-285.)

The trial court determined, in its Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress (R. 160-169), that Mr. Sager and his codefendant accompanied Deputy Walker to the jail facility as an exercise of their own free will. (R. 162.) Mr. Sager contests this view, however, as will be developed in Argument I, below.

At the jail facility, Mr. Sager and his co-defendant provided, along with their supposed names, social security numbers and addresses (T.298), and were given a meal, dry clothes, and allowed to shower in the cells that were provided to them (T. 284). Wayne County Sheriff Farrior learned the following day that a check of the names provided by the two men did not correspond to any computerized record in the possession of the National Crime Information Center. (R. 163.)

On that same day, January 9, 1992, Deputy Walker came to work in the early afternoon and found a note that the man who originally identified himself as David Alan Scott was actually named Robert John Sager. (R. 163.) Meanwhile, the man originally identified as William Stephen O'Donnell gave officials another name, James Earl Densmore. This man offered to call a friend in Jacksonville, Florida, in order to confirm his identity. (T. 306-307.) The person who answered the call identified Densmore as Donald Voorhees (T. 324).) When Donald Voorhees was confronted on the matter, he

admitted that he was, indeed, Voorhees. (R. 163.) The Jacksonville party also informed Wayne County authorities that Detective William Lawless from Pasco County had come to Jacksonville looking for Mr. Sager and Donald Voorhees, and wanted to talk to them about a Pasco County homicide. (T. 325.)

Mr. Sager and Donald Voorhees were then separated, the Wayne County authorities having decided to hold them until Pasco County officials could travel to Mississippi and talk with the prisoners. (R. 163-164.)

That evening, Mr. Sager gave a self-incriminating taped statement to Sheriff Farrior. (T. 333.) Also that evening, a trustee named Bennie Eugene Humphrey spoke to Donald Voorhees out of Mr. Sager's presence, and was told by Donald Voorhees that he, Voorhees, had stabbed and slashed the throat of a man in Florida. (Ct. Exh. #3.)

### (2) The Florida Investigation

Back in Florida, Detective Lawless had already been designated the case officer in the homicide of Audrey Stephen Bostic. At the scene of the homicide on January 4, 1992, there was no sign of forced entry (T.192), and the victim was "hogtied" with telephone wires. (T.193.) On the following day, Detective Lawless discovered that the victim had been with Mr. Sager and a man known as James Densmore in Room 4 at the Chasco Inn. Room 4 was registered to Mr. Sager and the man known as James Densmore. (T.165.)

On January 6, 1992, another Pasco County officer, Detective Powers, conducted a warrantless search of Room 4 at the Chasco Inn.

(R. \_\_\_\_.) Although the landlady supposedly gave officers permission to search the room, in fact it was still registered to Mr. Sager and Donald Voorhees, who had paid two weeks rent in advance. (R. 437-438.)

The investigation next took Detective Lawless to Jacksonville where he interviewed Tony Watson and other friends or acquaintances of Donald Voorhees. (T. 380.) Donald Voorhees and a friend - Mr. Sager - had travelled through Jacksonville in a vehicle which matched the description of the victim's automobile. On his way back to Pasco County from Jacksonville on January 9, 1992, Detective Lawless learned that Mr. Sager and Donald Voorhees were being held by authorities in Mississippi and were on the verge of being released. Detective Lawless immediately travelled to Wayne County, Mississippi, arriving there at approximatelymidnight. (T. 380-381.)

By the time her was questioned by Detective Lawless, Mr. Sager had already given a self-incriminating statement to Wayne County Sheriff Farrior. (T. 332-333.) Detective Lawless, in the presence of Detective Spears, also from the Pasco County Sheriff's Office, interviewed Mr. Sager from approximately 1:33 a.m. to 2:33 a.m. on January 10, 1992. (T. 387,) Later that same morning, at about 10:00 a.m., Mr. Sager and Donald Voorhees waived extradition and boarded a flight back to Pasco County. (R. 12.) After talking to Mr. Sager and Donald Voorhees in Mississippi, Detective Lawless obtained a warrant for their arrest; he officially arrested them after the return flight to Pasco County from Mississippi. (R. 8.)

(3) Proffered Testimony Regarding Statements Made by Co-Defendant

During Mr. Sager's trial, on May 11, 1994, the defense proffered testimony by Detective Lawless in regard to hearsay statements made by Donald Voorhees, Mr. Sager's co-defendant. One critical issue in this felony murder/premeditated murder prosecution was who tied the victim up with telephone cords prior to the homicide. Using the transcript from a statement given previously by the officer, defense counsel pursued this line of inquiry in his examination of Detective Lawless.

- Q. Now, in your interview with Voorhees, Voorhees probably five or six times insisted that he tied up the victim alone?
- A. He states he tied him up, yes he did.
- Q. And if you asked even if Sager had helped, he said, no, he, Voorhees tied up the victim?
- A. Again, I don't recall giving that -- do you have a specific page in that transcript where it says that?
- Q. Well, Page 8, the bottom of the page, question, "What happened next? So Johnny started tying him up?" And his answer, "No, I tied him."
- A. Okay.
- Q. So you would agree that Voorhees said that he did not -- that is, Sager did not help Voorhees tie up the victim?
- A. That's correct.
- (T. 419-420.)
- (4) Detective Lawless's Interrosation of Donald Voorhees

Court's Exhibit #1, consisting of a transcription of a tape recording of Detective Lawless's interrogation of Donald Voorhees, was entered into the record for appellate purposes, although it was not admitted into evidence or published to the jury during the

guilt phase of Mr. Sager's trial. In addition, a statement by a trustee in the Wayne County jail, Bennie Eugene Humphrey, was excluded during the guilt phase, but entered into the record as Court's Exhibit #3. Taken together, the two excluded items raise a substantial question as to Mr. Sager's specific actions at the time of the homicide. Indeed, It is Mr. Sager's position that had the two excluded items gone to the jury at the guilt phase, they may well have raised a reasonable doubt as to his culpability in the minds of the jurors.

With respect to Mr. Sager's specific actions at the time of the homicide, the following exchanges took place between Detective Lawless and Donald Voorhees in the excluded (in the guilt phase) interrogation.

- Q. O.K., **so** what happened next?
- A. I told Johnny (Mr. Sager) to keep . . . keep the dude in the seat and I started lookin' around the house for anything. I don't know what I wa lookin' for, just (coughs) going through the house.
- O. Were you looking for money, dope?
- A. Whatever the dude had.
- Q. O.K., so why'd you want Johnny to deep him in the seat?
- A. So he didn't see me going through the house. It didn't make much sense in the long run.

## (Ct. Exh. #1, p. 7.)

- Q. O.K., what happened next? So Johnny started tying him and you . . .
- A. No, I tied him.
- Q. You tied him, What did Johnny do, just held him down?

A. No, I took care of the holding while he was down but every time he said somethin' I'd tell him to shut up and Johnny'd kick him in the head and I told him to shut up again.

## (Ct. Exh. #1, p. 8.)

- Q. O.K. What happened next?
- A. Continued to hit him about the head to try and shut him up but he wouldn't shut up, tryin'...kickin' him about the head to try and shut him up.
- Q. Did you hit him or did Johnny hit him?
- A. We both did.
- Q. You both hit him. O.K. About his head?
- A. Uh huh.
- Q. O.K., what happened next?
- A. I got up, went into the kitchen . . . grabbed a knife and walked **back** in there, got down on my knees and stuck the knife in the side of his neck.

(Ct. Exh. #1, p. 10.)

### (5) Trustee Bennie Humphrey's Conversation with Donald Voorhees

As noted above, trustee Bennie Eugene Humphrey made contact with Donald Voorhees in the Wayne County Jail. The pertinent segment of the conversation, preserved in a one page statement, follows, The statement sheds critical light on the nature of the wounds incurred by the victim in this case.

I then asked Voorhees what happened? He said that he and Sager had got with a fellow and had been drinking and wound up at the man's place. Voorhees said that he had been drinking pretty heavy and that he passed out on the couch. He said that Sager and this other fellow got into a fight and it woke him up. He said Sager had beat him up pretty bad and was still beating on the fellow and that he went and pulled Sager off him. Voorhees said the fellow's face was all beat in and the fellow kept on moaning and making a racket. I think he said that they tied the man up and the man kept making a racket and that

they got scared and Voorhees said, I caught him by the hair of the head and cut his throat. Voorhees said he was still making a noise so then I ran up to him and jabbed him in the neck.

# (6) <u>Doctor Hansen's Testimony re</u>: Cause of Death

Marie Hansen, M.D., was accepted by the trial court, over defense objection, as an expert in forensic pathology. (T. 466.) Dr. Hansen performed the autopsy on the victim (T. 467) and testified, inter alia, as to the cause of death, Dr. Hansen was unable to identify a single, discrete cause of death, testifying instead that "Mr. Bostic (the victim) died of a combination of homicidal violence, including blunt trauma to the head and chest, choking, binding, and incisions to the neck." (T. 468.)

Dr. Hansen was able to shed considerable light on the precise nature of the cutting wounds to the victim's neck area.

- Q. Dr. Hansen, you were describing to us the blunt trauma to the head, and you were about to tell us about the incised wounds, and I stopped you. Could you now tell us about those incised wounds?
- A. Okay. There was six incised wounds on the body
- Q. Let me stop you a minute again. Could you tell us what incised wounds mean?
- A. An incised wound is longer than it is deep. A stab wound is deeper than it is wide. All his wounds were incised; in other words, the portion that broke the skin was longer than the depth of penetration of the wound.
- Q. Now, you said there were two incised wounds, what did you say, to the right side of the neck?
- A. Yes. There was one in the right upper neck four inches below the ear, and one and a half inches anterior to (in front of) the ear, three inches to the left of midline -- I'm sorry that should be to the right of midline, was 15/16th of an inch, so it only went into the subcutaneous (beneath the skin) tissue of the neck.

(T. 471-472). Dr. Hansen also described the victim's fractured hyoid bone, which she stated was consistent with either strangulation or a kick or other straight blow. (T. 474-475.) The doctor did not think that a flag found wrapped around the victim's neck was likely to have caused the hyoid bone fracture. (T. 479.)

Perhaps the most noteworthy wound suffered by the victim was the slash or slice directly across the throat.

- Q. Now doctor, let's go to the third cause of death, possible cause of death here. You mentioned the slashing of the throat.
- A. Yes.
- Q. Tell us about your finding as it relates to the slashing of the throat.
- A. There is a wound that's four inches long in the middle of the throat, and there is a little bit of a snag in the middle where it looks like something came across and the skin is a lot tougher than most people think -- and possibly got caught and then started again, rather than one clear slash.

It goes through the soft tissues in the neck, through the windpipe into the posterior larynx, in this case the back of the throat.

(T. 479-480.)

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The detention in Wayne County was an impermissible violation of the Fourth, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment rights of Mr. Sager. When he was taken to the jail facilities, it was by an armed law enforcement officer who neglected to divulge that Mr. Sager and Donald Voorhees would be held against their wills until they had satisfied the Sheriff's Office as to their identities. All of the direct and vicarious evidentiary results of the illegal detention and questioning should have been excluded or suppressed by the

trial court, and they provide a sufficient basis for reversal of Mr. Sager's conviction.

It was likewise a violation of Mr. Sager's Fourth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to conduct the warrantless search of Room 4 at the Chasco Inn in Pasco County. Even under intense questioning by defense counsel, Detective Lawless did not reveal the results of the illegal search. This concealment was exacerbated by the trial court's stated lack of knowledge of what the search had produced. What is clear is that after the search, Detective able to locate Donald Voorhees's friends acquaintances in Jacksonville, and that his trip there led inexorably to Donald Voorhees's identification by Wayne County authorities. It also alerted those authorities that Mr. Sager and Donald Voorhees were wanted for questioning in connection with the victim's homicide. An appropriate remedy for this infringement of constitutional quarantees is the issuance of instructions on remand that the trial court conduct a hearing to determine precisely what evidence was obtained as a result of the illegal search. Then, that evidence and all its fruits should be suppressed or excluded on retrial.

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