## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT CARL SAGER,

Appellant,

vs.

1

- \_\_\_\_

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee,

CASE JO. 84,539

#### vinten andre statistica Statistica Statistica Statistica



. 4

## ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. LANDRY Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

Recent case law supports the trial court's ruling. In <u>Geralds</u> <u>v. State</u>, \_\_\_\_\_ So. 2d \_\_\_, 21 Fla. Law Weekly S 85 (Fla. 19961, this Court explained:

> Besides the medical evidence and testimony in this case, several cases which are factually analogous support the trial court's finding of the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating circumstance. In Perry v. State, 522 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 1988), the victim was "brutally beaten in the head and face" and "choked and repeatedly stabbed in the chest and breasts as she attempted to ward off the knife" while she

was in her own home. Id. At 821. The victim "died of strangulation associated with stab wounds, comparable, in the medical examiner's testimony, to drowning in her own blood" Id; see also Pittman v. State, 646 So. 2d 167, 172 - 73 (Fla. 1994) (finding heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating factor was warranted where each victim was stabbed numerous times and bled to death and one victim's throat was cut), cert. denied, 115 S,Ct. 1982, 131 L, Ed. 2d 870 (1995); Whiten v. State, 649 So. 2d 861, 866 - 67 (Fla. 1994) (finding heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating factor was properly applied where medical examiner testified that attack lasted approximately thirty minutes, where blood trail showed that blows to head must have come late in attack, and where it was shown that, despite victim's intoxication, he was aware of what was happening to him ), cert. denied, 116 S.Ct. 106 (1995); Hardwick v. State, 521 So. 2d 1071 (Fla,) (Finding evidence supported heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator when victim became unconscious within five to six minutes of being stabbed three times in chest and back, then shot in back and then struck about head), cert. denied, 488 U.S. 871, 109 S.Ct. 185, 102 L.Ed. 2d 154 (1988); Preston v. State, 444 So. 2d 939, 945 - 46 (Fla. 1984) (holding murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel where, after robbing store, defendant forced victim to accompany him on mile and a half journey then forced her to walk at knife point for 500 feet, though victim may not have of wounds inflicted been aware after defendant's initial slashing of her throat which severed jugular vein, trachea, and other main arteries of neck).

°s ∙

In Taylor v. State, 630 So. 2d 1038 (Fla. 1993), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 107, 130 L.Ed.2d 54 (1994), we found that the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator was supported

the evidence despite the fact that bv appellant contended there was no evidence the victim was conscious or that she endured great pain or mental anguish during the murder. Id. At 1042 - 43. Rather, the record in Taylor reflected the victim was stabbed at least twenty times with two different weapons. The victim also suffered twenty-one other lacerations, bruises, and wounds, and received several blows to her head and face from blunt A medical examiner also testified objects. that the victim in Taylor was alive while she was stabbed, beaten, and finally strangled. Id. At 1043; see also Allen v. State, 662 So. 2d 323, 31 (Fla. 1995) (as in Taylor, the medical examiner in Allen testified that the victim was alive when she was beaten repeatedly). We find no error in the trial court's finding that the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating factor should be applied.

s .

6

(Text at 588)

Appellant challenges the trial court's finding, arguing that he and his companion did not intend to inflict a high degree of pain or torture; he relies on a number of cases where this court has held that murder by gunshot -- which frequently leads to instantaneous death -- did not satisfy the HAC criteria. The instant case is not a shooting **death**.<sup>6</sup> But quite apart from

In another line of cases the court has observed that the HAC aggravator is perceived more from the victim's perspective than the defendant's and the defendant's intent is not dispositive. <u>Hitchcock</u> v. <u>State</u>, 578 So. 2d 685 (Fla. 1990). HAC is established when the victim contemplates and anticipates imminent death. <u>Stano</u> v. <u>State</u>, 460 So. 2d 690 (Fla. 1994); <u>Wvatt</u> v. State, 641 So. 2d

certain self-serving statements in appellant's admissions to police, any sentient human being would be able to recognize that the beating, stomping and slitting of the victim's throat would reasonably lead to pain and suffering. See State Exhibit 60, photo depicting the victim's face. Dr. Hansen had described in addition to the abrasions to the face (Tr 468 - 470), six incised wounds on the body, two to the neck and the rest on the shoulder and arm (Tr 471 - 472). The hyoid bone was fractured, consistent with a choking (Tr 474). The throat-slashing injury would lead one to "survive for up to several minutes in that condition" (Tr 482). If the first injuries were to the face and head, it could have been up to ten or fifteen minutes or longer until the last injury was inflicted (Tr 488). With the windpipe severed, the victim would not be able to make noise because the air would not go past the vocal cords (Tr 489). Mr. Bostic also had sustained several fractured and cracked ribs (Tr 490).

۰.

۰.

Finally, the trial court disposed of Sager's reliance on Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782, 73 L.Ed.2d 1140 (1982) opining:

"The court must also consider the defendant's argument that the death penalty may not be imposed on him based on the principles set

<sup>1336 (</sup>Fla, 1994); <u>Gaskin v. State</u>, 591 **so. 2d** 917 (Fla. 1991); <u>Preston v. State</u>, 607 So. 2d 404 (Fla.1992).

forth in Enmund v. Florida, 458 U.S. 782, 102 S.Ct. 3368, 73 L.Ed.2d 1140 (1982). The facts clearly demonstrate that Mr. Sager acted with reckless and brutal indifference to human life. Mr. Sager was present in the victim's home throughout the events culminating in the victim's death and did nothing to prevent the killing. the contrary, Mr. То Sager participated and, arguably, was the sole participant in the binding of the victim, the dragging of the victim from the living room to the bedroom, the beating of the victim and made an effort to gag the victim before the killing. Sager's statement also supports a jury finding that it was Sager who actually sliced the victim's throat. The Court finds these acts to constitute "major participation" in the offense perpetrated against the victim and would make such a finding even if it was clearly established that the co-defendant was the person who did the actual slashing of the victim's throat. In binding and beating the helpless victim in his own home and in inflicting knife wounds to the victim's neck (even if Mr. Sager did not inflict the fatal slicing wound to the victim's neck) the Court finds that Mr. Sager acted with reckless indifference to human life.

š. .

# (R 738 - 739)

Sager criticizes the lower court's rejection of his reliance on <u>Enmund</u>. In that case the United States Supreme Court held that it would violate the Eighth Amendment to impose a death sentence on a person who does not kill, attempt to kill or intend to kill but only aids and abets a felony in which a murder is committed by others. Enmund was apparently in a car by the side of the road when the victims were killed in a farmhouse. Sager's participation in this crime was far more egregious; he was present beating the victim and according to his confession inflicted a fatal knife wound. <u>Enmund</u> does not aid Mr. Sager.

٠.

# ISSUE IX

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY IN DENYING THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE SEIZED FOLLOWING A SEARCH OF THE ROOM AT THE CHASCO INN?

A. <u>No tangible evidence was seized at the Chasco Inn that was</u> in-roduced into <u>evidence</u> \_\_\_\_

The dispositive fact is that nothing was seized and introduced into evidence at Mr. Sager's trial from the search at the Chasco Inn. Accordingly, there is no reversible error in the trial court's ruling denying the motion to suppress (and the effect is the same as if the motion had been granted below). At the suppression hearing, Detective Lawless testified:

> "Q. Was there anything that you discovered in that room that led you to any other witnesses or any other tangible evidence in this particular case?

A. No.

ð s. • • • •

۰.

\* \* \*

Q. Whatever was found inside the room, the papers, whatever, had no significance to you and did not play any type of role in your investigation of this particular case?

A. That's correct.

(R 358)

All that was found was scrap paper (R 368).

• , •

Even now, appellant does not identify what items were improperly seized and introduced into evidence against him; rather, Sager asks this Court to remand for another hearing to determine what evidence resulted from the search of the motel room. (Brief, pp, 90 - 91). Appellant is not entitled to yet another hearing when as movant below he failed to establish that any evidence was seized, and improperly introduced at his trial.<sup>7</sup>

B. The merits of the search issue --

If it is necessary to discuss the academic question of whether the search of the motel room was appropriate, appellee will do so. The trial court's order denying relief recites:

> *"*1. As to the initial search of the defendants' room at the Chasco Inn on January 6, 1992, it is clear that the officers' reasonably believed that Mrs. Weiskopf, the landlady, had appropriate authority to consent to a search of the room by the officers. hindsight Although reveals that the information initially provided by Mrs. Weiskopf was inaccurate, the case law stands for the proposition that the officers are not always required to be correct, but are only

Appellee notes that in the companion case of <u>Voorhees</u> v. <u>State</u>, FSC Case No. 83,380, Mr. Voorhees admits at page 45 of his brief that "it does not appear from the record that law enforcement obtained any incriminating evidence against appellant [Voorhees] when they searched the room."

required to be reasonable. <u>Illinois V.</u> <u>Rodriguez</u>, 110 S.Ct. 2793, 2799 - **2801** (1990)."

(R 165)

In <u>Illinois v. Rodriguez</u>, supra, the Court addressed the issue whether a warrantless entry is valid when based upon the consent of a third party whom the police at the time of the entry reasonably believe to possess common authority over the premises but who in The Court explained that to satisfy the fact does not. reasonableness requirement of the Fourth Amendment what is generally demanded of government agents is not that they always be correct but that they always be reasonable. The Court concluded that determination of consent to enter must be judged against an objective standard: would the facts available to the officer at the moment warrant a man of reasonable caution in the belief that the consenting party had authority over the premises. If so, the search is valid. 111 L.Ed.2d at 161.

In the instant case, Detective Lawless was under the impression from his conversation with Mrs. Weiskopf that Sager and his companion (Voorhees) had rented the room for one week from December 29 to January 5 and that the rental period expired by January 6th (R356). Lawless contemplated getting a search warrant prior thereto but instead chose to ask the landlady's consent on

the "abandoned" property on January 6th (R 357).<sup>8</sup> Lawless acted cautiously, having an officer stay near the premises for the dual purpose of being present if someone showed up and for the arrival of the search warrant if that were obtained (R 369 -370). Lawless insisted that Mrs. Weiskopf did not tell him that the rent was paid two weeks in advance (R 398). Mrs. Weiskopf agreed that the detective received a copy of the registration dated December 29,1991, which listed a fifty dollar rate; she did not show him a copy of receipt 220944 (R 440). She gave consent to the deputies to search because she thought the room had been abandoned (R 441 -See <u>Parman v. United States</u>, 399 F.2d 559 (D.C. Cir. 1968) 442). (abandonment in fact and in law occurred where defendant fled Washington almost immediately after crime and was in Ohio under an assumed name at the time of the search); Fequer v. United States, 302 F.2d 214 (8th Cir. 1962) (Warrantless search with landlord's permission approved even though room rent paid up to days after search since property abandoned even though abandonment not known by the police). Rejecting the defense argument as "intriguing but

8

× ...

It would appear that the room truly had been abandoned; there was no clothing nor other personal belongings such as wallet, money, jewelry, shaving gear, etc. ( $\Re$  368).

..., .without substance", Judge [later Justice] Blackmun concluded that abandonment in fact had been effected before the search). In <u>United States v. Sledge</u>, 650 F.2d 1075 (9th Cir.1981), the court addressed the legitimacy of a police search of the defendant's apartment which appeared to have been abandoned when in fact the defendant may have intended to return and the court concluded, through Judge (now Justice) Kennedy, that the officer could rely reasonably on the authority of the landlord to admit him to the apartment. The court noted that the ultimate requirement is reasonableness under the Fourth Amendment, not strict compliance with technical state properly law concepts.

Appellant argues that the motel room was not abandoned since Sager and Voorhees had paid rent for another week, which he claims is the functional equivalent of advising the owner of the intent to stay as in <u>Paty v. State</u>, 276 So. 2d 195 (Fla. 1 DCA 1975).But unlike <u>Paty</u> where the defendant had left personal belongings in the room Sager and his companion had not left such items behind; clearly they had fled after the Bostic murder. Voorhees did not return to his job the following Monday, but instead went to Madison, Alabama to get his paycheck (R 354) [Voorhees and Sager told Tony Watson if the police were looking for them, it was really drug dealers whom they ripped off R 411. No serious assertion can

be made that they intended to return to the Chasco Inn],

Both Mrs. Weiskopf, the landlady-owner of the Chasco Inn, and Detective Lawless thought that Sager had abandoned the premises by expiration of the lease. During Weiskopf's examination the following colloquy is presented:

"Q. But you thought the room had been abandoned, correct?

A. Yes.

5 ° 2

۰.

Q. You all had discussed about the room being abandoned, and that's why you gave Lawless consent to search, correct?

A. Yes.

(R442)

Lawless testified:

"Q. According to her, what did she tell you as to when she thought that the term of rent the duration of the rent was for?

A. Was for a week.

Q. Terminating on the 5th where it was vacated on the 6th?

A. Correct.

(R 357)

The instant case is like Jones v. State, 332 So.2d 615 (Fla.

1976) where the defendant hurriedly left his shack after the murder and this court determined that he had abandoned the premises.

· · ·

9

Even if Lawless were mistaken and the lessees intended to return to the premises, he did not act unreasonably. See <u>Sledge</u>, supra; <u>Illinois v.</u> Rodriguez, supra.

Sager argues that the police could not have relied on the obtained consent from Mrs. Weiskopf because they knew or should have known the room was rented and occupied by Sager and his co-defendant; he cites an excerpt of her testimony on direct examination. On cross examination she clarified that she provided to the police a copy of the registration dated December 29,1991, listing a rate of fifty dollars per week. She did not show the officer the receipt of 220944.<sup>9</sup> She thought the room had been abandoned (R 440 - 442). The police acted reasonably as required by Rodriguez., supra, and Sledge, supra.

Lawless denied being told the rent lasted to January 12th (R 370). A copy of the rental receipt subsequently was recovered in a search of the Bostic vehicle days after Sager's arrest and return to Florida (R 439).

#### ISSUE X

š. . .

WHETHER THE COURT SHOULD ESTABLISH A "BRIGHT LINE" RULE REQUIRING A RECORD WAIVING OF THE RIGHT TO TESTIFY DURING THE PENALTY PHASE?

Appellant now complains that he was not informed of the right to testify at penalty phase; it does not appear that he interposed any timely and contemporaneous objection below. Consequently, the claim should be deemed procedurally barred.

Additionally, Sager acknowledges that this Court has previously rejected his argument in <u>Torres-Arbolledo v. State</u>, 524 So. 2d 403, 409 -411 (Fla. 1988). Accord, <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 659 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1995). This Court should again decline the opportunity to establish a bright line rule requiring an on the record waiver of the right to testify.

Moreover, appellant is mistaken. After the defense had called all its witnesses at penalty phase, the trial court inquired of Sager if he desired to testify and Sager responded, "No, sir, I have nothing to say" (Tr 780).

# ISSUE XI

· · ·

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